1990

George Ronald Wright v. Westside Nursery, a Utah limited partnership, and Darrel Humphries, an individual : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff initiated this civil proceeding in the Fifth District Court and Defendants counterclaimed. Following trial and the denial of post-trial motions for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and for new trial, Plaintiff appealed seeking reversal of the judgment awarding Defendants damages for fraudulent misrepresentation and challenging other aspects of the proceedings. Defendants cross-appealed seeking the entry of judgment awarding damages for the wrongful termination of Defendant Humphries' employment contract and other relief. The prior appeal was before this Court as case no. 880544-CA.

This Court reversed and vacated the judgment for damages arising out of the alleged fraudulent misrepresentation, affirmed

the judgment to the extent that the district court had required Plaintiff to reimburse Defendant Humphries certain funds deposited directly into the Westside Nursery account, affirmed the judgment to the extent that the Court had denied Humphries damages for wrongful termination, reversed the judgment to the extent that the district court had refused to exonerate the preliminary injunction bond and remanded the case for the purpose of assessing Plaintiff's attorney fees reasonably incurred on appeal and considering a reduction of the attorney fees awarded Defendants at trial.

On remand, the district court assessed attorney fees against Defendants but refused to reduce the attorney fees awarded Defendants at trial and ordered Plaintiff's bill of costs on appeal stricken. From that order, Plaintiff prosecutes this second appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did the district court err in interpreting this Court's opinion as denying Plaintiff's costs on appeal and in ordering Plaintiff's bill of costs stricken?

2. Did the district court err in refusing to modify the attorney fees awarded Humphries at trial?

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES

The text of all relevant authorities is quoted in the body of this brief. Additionally, the text of proposed Rule 34, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, together with the advisory committee's note are included as Addendum A.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The prior appeal was decided on February 2, 1990, and is reported at 127 Utah Adv. Rep. 21, 787 P.2d 508. A copy of that opinion is attached as Addendum B. References to the language of the opinion are located by citing the reporters.

For the sake of clarity and continuity, the Appellant is referred to hereinafter as "Wright" and the Appellees, as "Humphries."

On the prior appeal, the principal issues Wright raised related to fraudulent misrepresentation, repayment of funds which Humphries had deposited into the Westside Nursery account and the exoneration of a preliminary injunction bond.

On cross-appeal, Humphries sought the entry of a judgment for wrongful termination of his employment contract, additional interest and attorney fees on his "indemnification" claim, and prejudgment interest on the fraud claim.

Wright prevailed on every issue presented on the appeal with the exception of the issue relating to the repayment of funds deposited into the nursery account. Humphries was denied any relief on his cross-appeal.

This Court ultimately reduced Humphries' net judgment (excluding attorney fees) from \$58,780.21 to \$20,180.00. Accordingly, the Court concluded: "[S]ome adjustment may be necessary so that [Humphries] does not recover [attorney] fees attributable to issues on which he did not prevail." 127 Utah Adv. Rep. at 27, 787 P.2d at 517.

Finally, this Court concluded that Wright was "properly regarded as the party who prevailed on appeal and 'is entitled on remand to an award of [his] attorney fees reasonably incurred on appeal.'" 127 Utah Adv. Rep. at 27, 787 P.2d at 517.

The remittitur was docketed in the district court on March 6, 1990 (R 1). On March 7, Wright filed his bill of costs and mailed a photocopy thereof to Humphries' attorney on the same day (R 14-15).

Wright simultaneously filed a motion to reduce the attorney fees awarded Humphries at trial and to assess against Humphries the attorney fees which Wright reasonably incurred on appeal (R 12-13, 16-17). That motion was heard on March 21, 1990 (R 18-19). At the hearing, Humphries verbally, and for the first time, voiced an objection to the bill of costs.

As the hearing proceeded, Wright's counsel testified that fully 90% of his fee was attributable to the defense of the fraud claim which Humphries had asserted against Wright (T 6). On the other hand, Humphries' counsel stated that only approximately 20% of his time was related to the fraud issue (T 19). He expressed no opinion regarding the amount of time expended in connection with the wrongful termination claim which failed in post-trial proceedings and ultimately on Humphries' cross-appeal (T 19-20).

Wright's counsel, in testimony, suggested an adjustment based upon the 66% reduction on the judgment mandated by the Court of Appeals as a reasonable basis for reducing the attorney fees awarded Humphries at trial (T 7).

Humphries' counsel suggested that inasmuch as the jury had not awarded him all of the attorney fees he had sought, the jury had already made an appropriate adjustment in Humphries' attorney fees (T 16).

Because it was impossible to divine the basis of the jury award of attorney fees and determine how much of the award was attributable to issues upon which Humphries did not ultimately prevail, the district court refused to make any adjustment of the award (T 24-26; R 20-23; See Addendum D).

Finally, the district court ordered Wright's bill of costs stricken (R 21) because the opinion of "the Court of Appeals doesn't mention costs" (T 24).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Wright was specifically identified as "the party who prevailed on appeal" and is under prevailing rules and precedents, entitled to the costs he incurred on the prior appeal.

The district court was presented ample evidence upon which it could have made a reasonable reduction of the attorney fees awarded Humphries at trial. In light of the substantial modification of the judgment on appeal, the district court erred in refusing to make any modification of Humphries' attorney fees.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

WRIGHT WAS ENTITLED TO AND AWARDED COSTS ON THE PRIOR APPEAL.

On the prior appeal this Court concluded that Wright was

"properly regarded as the party who prevailed on appeal and 'is entitled on remand to an award of [his] attorney fees reasonably incurred on appeal.'"

Rule 34, R.Utah Ct.App., effective at the time of the decision on the prior appeal, provided in relevant part:

(a) To whom awarded. Except as otherwise provided by law, if an appeal is dismissed, costs shall be taxed against the appellant unless otherwise agreed by the parties or ordered by the court; if a judgment or order is affirmed, costs shall be taxed against the appellant unless otherwise ordered; if a judgment or order is reversed, costs shall be taxed against the respondent unless otherwise ordered; if a judgment or order is affirmed or reversed in part, or is vacated, costs shall be allowed as ordered by the court.

Paragraph (c) then enumerates the items taxable as costs "in favor of the prevailing party in the appeal" and paragraph (d) mentions "the cost bill of the prevailing party."

When the new rules of appellate practice were proposed in 1984, the language of proposed Rule 34 was substantially the same as that quoted above. The Advisory Committee Note¹ regarding Paragraph (a) stated:

This Paragraph provides that the prevailing party shall generally be awarded costs, unless the Supreme Court orders otherwise. It is not anticipated that the written opinion of the Supreme Court will, after adoption of this rule, specifically award costs unless there is a departure from the general rule.

In delivering its opinion this Court took time to analyze the numerous issues presented on appeal and cross-appeal concluded

¹Attached Addendum A is a reproduction of Rule 34 as proposed in 1984, together with the Advisory Committee Note. When the Court of Appeals was later created, Rule 34 was adopted as a rule of this Court with only minor changes.

that Wright was "the party who prevailed on appeal" and ordered the district court to award him attorney fees reasonably incurred on the appeal.

The designation of Wright as "the party who prevailed on appeal" and the award of attorney fees are incongruous with the district court's conclusion that Wright is not entitled to the costs incurred on the appeal.²

In Everts v. Worrell, 58 Utah 238, 197 P. 1043 (1921), Everts won the reversal of a judgment in favor of Worrell. The Utah Supreme Court's opinion concluded with the following:

Judgment is therefore reversed, and the causes remanded to the district court of Weber county, with directions to grant Plaintiff a new trial at defendant's cost.

On remand the district court refused to allow Everts to enforce a judgment for costs against Worrell, interpreting the language of the Supreme Court opinion to apply only to costs incident to the new trial and not to costs on appeal. On Everts' application for writ of mandate, Everts v. Barker, 58 Utah 519, 200

²In reciting the basis of its decision, the district court stated:

[BY THE COURT] In reviewing the opinion in this case, the Court of Appeals doesn't mention costs. I don't know if that's because no application was made for costs before the Court of Appeals, or because the issue just wasn't considered. But whatever the reason, the Court of Appeals, in fact, did not award Mr. Wright his costs.

Going strictly by the language of Rule 34, I have to conclude, therefore, that this Court is without jurisdiction to make any determination on the applicability or the award of costs as requested by Mr. Wright. That's an issue that should have been raised and decided upon before the Court of Appeals. Therefore, the request for an award of costs is denied.

P. 473 (1921), the Supreme Court held that the language of an appellate opinion must be construed in light of the circumstances of the case and prevailing rules of practice and precedents. An opinion must not be construed so as to result in an absurdity. The writ was issued.³

Wright incurred an expense of nearly \$3,000 in merely having a transcript of the trial proceedings prepared for review on appeal. A construction of the appellate opinion denying Wright costs will effectively impose upon him all of the costs associated with marshalling the evidence on an appeal in which he prevailed.

The order of the district court must be reversed and Wright's bill of costs reinstated and enforced as a judgment.

POINT II

HUMPHRIES HAS WAIVED ANY OBJECTION TO WRIGHT'S BILL OF COSTS BY HIS FAILURE TO OBJECT THERETO.

Under Rule 34(d), R.Utah Ct.App., any objection to a bill of costs had to be filed within five days of the service of the bill, together with a motion to have the costs taxed by the court. "If there is no objection to the bill of costs within the allotted time, the clerk of that court shall tax the costs as filed and enter judgment for the party entitled thereto * * * If the cost bill of the prevailing party is timely opposed, the clerk, upon

³Uncertain about the appropriate means of procuring enforcement of this Court's prior decision and review of the district court's orders on remand, Wright will simultaneously petition this Court for writ in the form of mandate. In some jurisdictions costs are taxed by the clerk of the appellate court and any objection to the Clerk's determination is considered directly by the appellate court. See Family Medical Bldg. v. State, D.S.H.S., 38 Wash.App. 738, 689 P.2d 413 (1984).

reasonable notice and hearing, shall tax the costs and enter a final determination and judgment . . ." Any determination made by the clerk was reviewable by the court upon a request by either party made within five days of the entry of the judgment.

The district court clerk has in fact entered Wright's cost bill on the judgment docket pursuant to Rule 34(d), R. Utah Ct. App.⁴

POINT III

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO REDUCE THE ATTORNEY FEES AWARDED HUMPHRIES AT TRIAL.

This Court was fully aware of the fact that the issue of attorney fees had been submitted to the jury. The opinion clearly reflects an awareness of the fact that the district court had not made the initial determination⁵. Nevertheless, the district court was instructed to reexamine the issue of attorney fees in light of the decision on appeal.

The Court of Appeals did not instruct, encourage, or expect the district court to divine the basis of the jury's findings. The task presented to the district court on remand had

⁴Note the docketing notation on the original bill of costs located at R. 14-15 and reproduced here as Addendum C.

⁵Footnote 11 of the appellate opinion reads:

The jury instruction regarding attorney fees was broader than the provisions in the Purchase Agreement which only provided for recovery of fees to the prevailing party who was "enforcing performance of any covenant or representation hereunder or for damage for breach thereof." The instruction given allowed the jury to award fees to the party who prevailed in the action. Neither party objected to this instruction and both thereby acquiesced in the instruction as given. Nor did either party object to having the jury make the attorney fee decision, a matter ordinarily better entrusted to the court.

nothing to do with the reconstruction of the jury's decision-making process. The jury concluded that \$10,000 was a reasonable fee to be awarded Humphries in connection with the prosecution of all the claims presented. Such was the scope of the instructions given the jury. In terms of dollars and cents, only approximately one-third of Humphries' claim survived the appeal.

The district court was presented ample evidence upon which a reasonable reduction of Humphries' attorney fees could and should have been made. In light of the substantial modification of the judgment on appeal, the district court erred in refusing to make any modification.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing it is respectfully submitted that the order of the district court striking Wright's cost bill must be reversed and said bill reinstated as a judgment. Furthermore, the district court's order refusing to modify the attorney fees awarded at trial should be reversed and this Court should specify the extent of any such reduction.