1990

# George Ronald Wright v. Westside Nursery, a Utah limited partnership, and Darrel Humphries, an individual : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF COURT OF APPEALS

Jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court by Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j) (1953, as amended).

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

Humphries adopts the nature of the proceedings as stated by Wright.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Is Rule 34 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure clear and unambiguous concerning costs on appeal.

2. Given the language of Rule 34 of Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure and this Court's prior decision, did

the trial court on remand have any discretion in awarding costs on appeal.

3. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in refusing to modify attorney's fees awarded Humphries at trial?

4. Is this appeal so frivolous that attorney's fees should be awarded Humphries on this second appeal.

#### CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES

There are no Constitutional provisions at issue. Rule 34 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure is controlling and is attached as Addendum A.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Humphries adopts Wright's Statement of the Case, but adds the following clarifications:

1. At the hearing on remand, Humphries' counsel took the position that (a) because costs were not awarded by this Court and (b) Rule 34 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure cannot be construed as awarding Wright costs, there was no need to file an objection to Wright's Memorandum of Costs. It was therefore improper for Wright to seek costs based on a reading of this Court's decision and Rule 34 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

2. The trial court correctly followed the directive of this Court and awarded Wright \$8,152.50 for attorney's fees incurred on appeal.

3. Humphries' counsel also suggested (in argument that was not recorded by the court reporter) that:

A. The jury had already reduced attorney's fees based on the equities of this matter. Such a decision by the jury or the court is within the province of the fact finder.

B. Post-verdict and while the jury was still impaneled, Wright failed to make inquiry why the jury reduced attorney's fees, or on what issue attorney's fees were awarded. Failure to make that inquiry constitutes waiver.

C. The burden was on Wright to prove by a preponderance of the evidence why and how attorney's fees should be reduced. There was conflicting testimony at the remand hearing on the attorney's fees incurred by Humphries for the issues Wright prevailed on in his appeal. Wright failed to meet his burden, and the Court would not speculate in that area.

4. The Court of Appeals' decision did not mandate a reduction of attorney's fees.



#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The trial court found that Wright failed to meet his burden on remand on the issue of a reduction in attorney's fees awarded Humphries at trial. The court refused to speculate in that area. (T.24, 25). (See Order Assessing Attorney's Fees Incurred on Appeal, Directing Disbursements of Supersedeas Bond and Exonerating Preliminary Injunction, Addendum B).

A trial court's finding of fact, whether based on oral or documentary evidence, will not be set aside on appeal unless clearly erroneous. Copper State Leasing Co. v. Blacker Appl. and Furn. Co., 770 P.2d 88 (Utah 1988); Western Kane County Spec. Service District v. Jackson Cattle Co., 744 P.2d 1377 (Utah 1987); Porter v. Groover, 734 P.2d 434, 435 (Utah 1987).

A trial court's finding is clearly erroneous when, although there is evidence to support it, the court reviewing all the record evidence is left with a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made. The Appellate Court may regard a finding as clearly erroneous only if the finding is without adequate evidentiary support or induced by an erroneous view of the law. State v. Walker, 743 P.2d 191, 193 (Utah 1987); Western Capital v. Knudsvig, 768 P.2d 989 (Utah 1989).

In order to challenge a trial court's finding of fact, an appellant must first marshal all the evidence that supports the findings and then demonstrate that, despite this evidence, they are so lacking in support as to be "against the clear weight of the evidence" and, thus, clearly erroneous. In re Estate of Bartell, 776 P.2d 885 (Utah 1989). This marshaling of the evidence is a prerequisite to the Appellate Court's determination of whether the findings are clearly erroneous. Cornish Town v. Koller, 758 P.2d 919 (Utah 1988); Fitzgerald v. Critchfield, 744 P.2d 301, 304 (Utah Ct. App. 1987).

Humphries submits that Wright has clearly failed to meet the standard for review established by this Court.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly interpreted Rule 34 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure and this Court's decision on the issue of costs. The trial court had no discretion to award costs.

The trial court properly applied its discretion in denying Wright's attempt to reduce attorney's fees awarded Humphries at trial.

This appeal is so frivolous that Humphries should be awarded attorney's fees. Alternatively, Humphries is

entitled to attorney's fees as the prevailing party if he prevails on appeal.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

#### WRIGHT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO NOR WAS HE AWARDED COSTS ON THE PRIOR APPEAL

In Appellant's Brief, Wright totally disregards the language of Rule 34 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure and the holding of this Court on the prior appeal.

Rule 34(a) of the Rules of Appellate Procedure states as follows:

To whom awarded. Except as otherwise provided by law, if an appeal is dismissed, costs shall be taxed against the appellant unless otherwise agreed by the parties or ordered by the court; if a judgment or order is affirmed, costs shall be taxed against appellant unless otherwise ordered; if a judgment or order is reversed, costs shall be taxed against the appellee unless otherwise ordered; if a judgment or order is affirmed or reversed in part, or is vacated, costs shall be allowed as ordered by the court. Costs shall not be allowed or taxed in a criminal case. (Emphasis added).

Applying the rule to the instant matter, we find that the Court of Appeals affirmed in part and reversed in part. In that situation, costs are allowed only as ordered by the court. The Court of Appeals awarded no costs. Rule 34 and the decision by this Court could not be more clear.

Wright suggests that Humphries had an obligation to object to Wright's bill of costs and failure to do so constitutes waiver. That claim is best responded to by the following question: If Rule 34 is to the effect that in a case which is affirmed in part and reversed in part, costs are only awarded when specifically allowed by the court, why should a litigant have to object (thus incurring additional attorney's fees) when what is sought is not allowed in the first place? To hold otherwise will cause an objection to be made every time a party is not awarded costs but still seeks them, resulting in additional pleadings, hearings before the court, and attorney's fees to the client. It will also cause the opposing party to seek Rule 11 sanctions which may in fact be appropriate.

Wright also fails to recognize the underlying reason why Rule 34 is written as it is. The rule simply recognizes that when a case is affirmed in part or reversed in part, the issue of costs is left for decision by the Appellate Court. Failure to award costs is a clear indication by the court that it duly considered whether or not costs should be awarded, and made a conscious decision that neither party should be awarded costs. Stated another way, when a case is reversed and affirmed in part, both parties prevailed on appeal and neither party should be penalized by an award of costs.

## POINT II

### WRIGHT FAILED TO MEET HIS BURDEN AT THE REMAND HEARING ON THE ATTORNEY'S FEES ISSUE

The Appellate Court in the prior appeal correctly recognized that Humphries was to be properly regarded as the party who prevailed at trial and was thus entitled to attorney's fees. Wright v. Humphries, 787 P.2d 508, 517 (Utah 1990). However, this Court did not mandate that a reduction of attorney's fees was required on remand, but merely suggested that some adjustment may be necessary, Id. at 517. This Court recognized that it would be Wright's burden to persuade the trial court that (1) sufficient proof existed in the form of itemized billings or other proof that would be applicable to the issues on which Humphries did not prevail; and (2) Wright would have to overcome the legal consequences of (a) submitting the issue of attorney's fees to the jury in the form of a general verdict as to fees, and (b) failing to make inquiry to the jury post-verdict but before discharge, on what issue attorney's fees were awarded and how much.

Even though Humphries' attorney submitted as an exhibit at the time of the original trial a copy of all attorney's fees billed to Humphries, no attempt was made by Wright at the remand hearing to show what work was done by

Humphries' counsel on a particular day which was attributable to a specific issue. (T. 15-20).

There was conflicting testimony at the remand hearing on the issue of attorney fees. Humphries' attorney testified that because of the complexity of the litigation and the numerous issues involved, it was impossible for him to determine how much time he incurred on the fraud issue. (T.18, 19). The time Wright's counsel incurred in defending the issue has no relevance to what Humphries incurred. The trial court apparently weighed all the evidence presented and found that Wright had failed to meet the burden of proof required.

This case was so complex and interwoven that it was impossible to separate out attorney's fees incurred on a specific matter. The conflicting evidence at the remand hearing, coupled with the trial court's recognition that the jury had already reduced the attorney's fee sought by Humphries from 30,000 to \$10,000 was evidence enough to the trial court that it should not speculate and merely guess on an appropriate reduction of attorney's fees. Since the trial court would not speculate, this Court should avoid the urge to do so. As stated by the trial court at the remand hearing:

The jury awarded \$10,000 out of the 30,000 plus that was requested by Mr. Chamberlain, and they were not requested to give any explanation as to why they reduced the requested attorney's fees.

I'm required under this decision to determine whether or not the \$10,000 award of attorney's fees ought to be reduced further, in light of the fact that Mr. Wright has prevailed on the fraud claim, and that's been reversed by the Court of Appeals--the jury's finding on that has been reversed. Since we can't guess why the jury found the \$10,000 fee in the first place, I'm not going to guess on whether or not that should be reduced. I don't know if there was any of that \$10,000 that was awarded on the fraud claim.

As I said, I can say that if I were making the determination, the attorney's fee would have been higher, and it would have included, in all likelihood, some fees for the litigation on the fraud claim, which I would have reduced now, in light of the fact that the fraud claim has been overturned. But I can't assume that the same procedure would be followed with regard to the jury. Therefore, I'm going to allow the \$10,000 attorney's fee to stand. (T. 24, 25). (Emphasis added).

The issue of attorney's fees incurred by Humphries has been decided by both the jury and the trial court. It would be improper for this Court to substitute its judgment for both of these fact finders who have heard the evidence first hand.

### POINT III

#### HUMPHRIES IS ENTITLED TO ATTORNEY'S FEES ON THIS APPEAL

Wright's appeal on both issues is without merit. Humphries should therefore be awarded his attorney's fees

and costs on this second appeal. Since this case is a continuation of a case where attorney's fees were appropriate in the first instance, they are likewise appropriate now, but only if requested by a party. Wright has not requested an award of attorney's fees in this appeal and it would therefore be error for this Court to award attorney's fees to Wright even if he prevails on this appeal.